# IMPACT OF CASH MANAGEMENT ON THE GROWTH AND PROFITABILITY OF DEPOSIT MONEY BANKS. (A CASE STUDY OF UNION BANK NIGERIA PLC)

BY

# ADELEKE BARAKAT ADUNNI ND/23/BFN/PT/0034

BEING A RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED TO THE
DEPARTMENT OF BANKING AND FINANCE, INSTITUTE OF
FINANCE AND MANAGEMENT STUDIES, KWARA STATE
POLYTECHNIC ILORIN

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF NATIONAL DIPLOMA (ND) IN BANKING AND FINANCE

**JUNE, 2025** 

# CERTIFICATION

This project work by ADELEKE BARAKAT ADUNNI with matric number ND/23/BFN/PT/0034 has been read and approved as meeting the requirements for the award of National Diploma (ND) Banking and Finance Department, Institute of Finance and Management Studies, Kwara State Polytechnic, Kwara State.

IRS. MURTALA M.O	DATE
Project Supervisor)	
AD HIMOH I	D. 4 (TE
IR. JIMOH I.	DATE
Project Coordinator)	
AR. AJIBOYE W.T.	DATE
Head of Department)	
EXTERNAL EXAMINER	DATE

# **DEDICATION**

This project is dedicated to Almighty God who is ever reliable throughout my academic journey and to my beloved parents.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENT**

I give all the glory to Almighty God for giving me the opportunity to be among the living and for giving me strength and knowledge for the successful completion of this project work.

I will be failing in my duty if I do not record my profound sense of heartfelt gratitude to my supervisor, MR. M. SANNI, the Head of Department, MR. AJIBOYE W.T, and to all my lecturers in Banking and Finance department.

I also thank my beloved parents for their morally, spiritually and financially support, and to my siblings and all my beloved friends. May Almighty God bless you abundantly. Amen

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title Page	i
Certification	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Background to the Study	1
1.2 Statement of the Problem	2
1.3 Objectives of the Study	3
1.4 Research Questions	3
1.5 Research Hypotheses	4
1.6 Significance of the Study	4
1.7 Scope of the Study	4
1.8 Limitations of the Study	5
1.9 Definition of Key Terms	5
1.10 Summary	6
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 Introduction	7
2.2 Conceptual Clarifications	7
2.3 Importance of Cash Management in Banking	8
2.4 Theoretical Framework	8
2.5 Components of Cash Management in Deposit Money Banks	9
2.6 Cash Management and Profitability	10

2.7 Cash Management and Bank Growth	11
2.8 Empirical Review	11
2.9 Gaps in Existing Literature	12
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	
3.1 Introduction	13
3.2 Research Design	13
3.3 Population of the Study	14
3.4 Sample Size and Sampling Technique	14
3.5 Sources of Data	14
3.6 Research Instrument	15
3.7 Validity and Reliability of the Instrument	15
3.8 Method of Data Analysis	16
3.9 Research Hypotheses	16
3.10 Ethical Considerations	17
CHAPTER FOUR: DATA PRESENTATION, ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION	
4.1 Introduction	18
4.2 Questionnaire Distribution and Retrieval	18
4.3 Demographic Information of Respondents	18
4.4 Descriptive Statistics on Cash Management Practices	19
4.5 Secondary Data Analysis (Union Bank Financial Ratios 2019–2023)	20
4.6 Test of Hypotheses	21
4.7 Discussion of Findings	23
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
5.1 Summary of Findings	24
5.2 Conclusion	25

REFERENCES	
5.6 Limitations of the Study	27
5.5 Suggestions for Further Research	27
5.4 Contributions to Knowledge	27
5.3 Recommendations	26

#### CHAPTER ONE

#### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background to the Study

Cash management is a critical component of financial management in any organization, especially in the banking sector where liquidity, profitability, and solvency are key determinants of performance. Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) in Nigeria, including Union Bank Nigeria Plc, operate in a dynamic and competitive environment that requires efficient handling of cash resources to ensure stability and profitability. Effective cash management encompasses the planning, controlling, and monitoring of an organization's cash inflows and outflows to optimize liquidity and returns (Gitman, 2009).

In Nigeria, cash remains a dominant means of transaction despite the growth of digital payment systems. For banks like Union Bank, the ability to manage cash efficiently is crucial for meeting withdrawal demands, granting loans, funding investments, and complying with regulatory requirements such as the Cash Reserve Ratio (CRR) and Liquidity Ratio (LR) set by the Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN, 2020). Poor cash management can lead to liquidity crises, reduced lending capacity, operational inefficiencies, and ultimately lower profitability.

Over the years, Deposit Money Banks have faced challenges such as fluctuating interest rates, currency devaluation, inflation, and increased competition, all of which demand more sophisticated cash management strategies. According to Obamuyi (2013), the success and survival of banks in Nigeria largely depend on how effectively they manage their cash resources to maintain a balance between liquidity and profitability.

Union Bank Nigeria Plc, one of the oldest financial institutions in Nigeria, has experienced various transformations in structure and strategy, particularly following the 2004 banking reforms and the 2008 global financial crisis. The bank's ability to sustain growth and generate profit amid macroeconomic fluctuations can be closely linked to how well it manages its cash assets and liabilities. Therefore, this study seeks to evaluate the impact of cash management practices on the growth and profitability of Union Bank Nigeria Plc.

#### 1.2 Statement of the Problem

Despite the importance of cash management in banking operations, many Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria still struggle with liquidity mismatches, idle cash balances, and cash shortages, which affect their profitability and sustainability. Inefficient cash handling, inaccurate forecasting, and poor investment of surplus cash are common issues. Union Bank, like many other banks, has had periods of declining profits and slow growth, prompting questions about the effectiveness of its cash management practices.

Moreover, existing literature on cash management in Nigerian banks is often generic and fails to focus on specific institutions or provide data-driven insights into the link between cash practices and financial performance. This gap necessitates a detailed case study on Union Bank to explore how cash management influences growth metrics like asset expansion, branch network development, and profitability indicators such as Return on Assets (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE).

## 1.3 Objectives of the Study

The main objective of this study is to evaluate the impact of cash management on the growth and profitability of Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria, using Union Bank Nigeria Plc as a case study. The specific objectives include:

- 1. To examine the cash management practices employed by Union Bank Nigeria Plc.
- To assess the relationship between cash management and profitability indicators (e.g., ROA, ROE).
- 3. To determine the effect of cash management on the growth of Union Bank in terms of assets and market share.
- 4. To identify challenges faced in cash management and suggest strategies for improvement.

## 1.4 Research Questions

The study seeks to answer the following research questions:

- 1. What are the cash management practices adopted by Union Bank Nigeria Plc?
- 2. How does cash management affect the profitability of Union Bank?
- 3. What is the relationship between cash management and the bank's growth?
- 4. What challenges does Union Bank face in managing its cash resources?

## 1.5 Research Hypotheses

To guide the study, the following hypotheses are formulated:

- H<sub>0</sub>1: Cash management has no significant effect on the profitability of Union Bank Nigeria Plc.
- H<sub>0</sub>2: Cash management does not significantly influence the growth of Union Bank
   Nigeria Plc.

#### 1.6 Significance of the Study

This study is significant for several reasons:

- **To Banking Practitioners:** It will provide insights into how efficient cash management contributes to better financial performance and sustainability in banking operations.
- To Union Bank Management: The findings can guide decision-making regarding liquidity planning, investment of idle funds, and customer service enhancement.
- **To Regulators:** The study may offer useful recommendations for policy improvements in the banking sector, particularly around liquidity regulation.
- To Researchers and Academics: It adds to the existing body of knowledge on banking performance, especially in developing economies like Nigeria.

#### 1.7 Scope of the Study

This study focuses on Union Bank Nigeria Plc and evaluates its cash management strategies and their impact on profitability and growth. The analysis will cover a five-year period

(e.g., 2019–2023) and will utilize financial statements, liquidity ratios, profitability ratios, and other relevant performance indicators.

#### 1.8 Limitations of the Study

Some of the limitations anticipated in this study include:

- Data Availability: Access to comprehensive internal data from Union Bank may be restricted.
- ii. **Scope Restriction:** The focus on a single bank may limit the generalizability of findings to the broader banking industry.
- iii. **Time Constraints:** The time frame for conducting the research may affect the depth of analysis.

# 1.9 Definition of Key Terms

- i. **Cash Management:** The process of collecting, managing, and investing cash in a manner that ensures liquidity and maximizes profitability.
- ii. **Profitability:** The ability of a bank to generate earnings compared to its expenses and other costs.
- iii. **Growth:** Measured by expansion in total assets, number of branches, customer base, and market share.
- iv. **Deposit Money Bank:** A financial institution licensed to accept deposits from the public and provide loans and other banking services.
- v. **Liquidity:** The ability of a bank to meet its short-term financial obligations as they fall due.

## 1.10 Summary

This chapter has laid the foundation for the study by introducing the concept of cash management and its critical role in the performance of Deposit Money Banks, with a specific focus on Union Bank Nigeria Plc. It established that effective cash management is essential for ensuring liquidity, sustaining profitability, and supporting the overall growth of banks.

The chapter also highlighted the persistent challenges facing banks in managing cash, such as liquidity mismatches and idle funds, and identified the gap in existing literature regarding institution-specific studies. It clearly defined the research problem, formulated relevant questions and hypotheses, and outlined the objectives and significance of the study.

Additionally, the chapter specified the study's scope, acknowledged its limitations, and clarified key operational terms used throughout the research. The contents of this chapter provide a clear direction for the study, forming a solid basis for the review of related literature in the next chapter.

#### CHAPTER TWO

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Introduction

Cash management remains a fundamental aspect of financial performance and strategic planning in the banking sector. It plays a vital role in ensuring that banks maintain adequate liquidity to meet obligations while maximizing profitability through the prudent allocation of idle funds. This chapter reviews relevant literature on the concept, components, theoretical models, and empirical studies of cash management in banking. It also identifies key research gaps that this study seeks to address.

#### 2.2 Conceptual Clarifications

#### 2.2.1 Cash Management

Cash management is the process by which organizations plan, monitor, and control cash flows to ensure optimal liquidity and maximize the use of idle funds (Pandey, 2010). In the context of banking, it involves balancing cash reserves, customer withdrawals, lending operations, and regulatory requirements. Effective cash management ensures that banks have enough liquidity to meet daily financial obligations without holding excessive idle cash that could otherwise generate income (Gitman, 2009).

Deposit Money Banks (DMBs) face peculiar challenges in cash management due to the unpredictable nature of deposit and withdrawal patterns, loan demands, and market volatility (Obamuyi, 2013). Consequently, well-structured cash flow forecasting, investment of surplus funds, and adherence to statutory liquidity requirements are critical to their performance.

## 2.3 Importance of Cash Management in Banking

In the banking sector, poor cash management can result in overexposure to liquidity risks, missed investment opportunities, and ultimately, insolvency. Efficient cash handling leads to:

- i. Reduced idle cash balances (Emery et al., 2007)
- ii. Improved profitability through interest income on invested funds (Olagunju et al., 2012)
- iii. **Enhanced liquidity** that fosters trust among customers and investors (Uremadu, 2004)
- iv. **Better regulatory compliance**, especially with the Cash Reserve Ratio (CRR) and Liquidity Ratio (CBN, 2020)

Banks like Union Bank must regularly review and improve their cash flow management systems to adapt to changes in the economy and customer behavior.

#### 2.4 Theoretical Framework

#### 2.4.1 Baumol's Model (1952)

This model provides a foundation for managing cash using an inventory-based approach. It suggests that businesses should determine the optimal cash balance that minimizes transaction and holding costs. This model is especially relevant to banks as they continually balance cash availability with investment of surplus funds.

#### 2.4.2 Miller-Orr Model (1966)

The Miller-Orr model extends Baumol's work by accommodating cash flow uncertainty. It introduces upper and lower limits to guide when to buy or sell marketable securities. This

model is applicable to banks operating in volatile environments where cash flow unpredictability is high (Miller & Orr, 1966).

## 2.4.3 Liquidity Preference Theory (Keynes, 1936)

Keynes proposed that individuals and institutions hold money for transaction, precautionary, and speculative motives. Banks must address all three motives when managing liquidity, ensuring enough cash is available to meet withdrawals, hedge against uncertainty, and capitalize on investment opportunities.

#### 2.4.4 Trade-Off Theory

This theory posits that firms should maintain a trade-off between liquidity and profitability. Holding more liquid assets enhances solvency but reduces profitability, while holding fewer liquid assets increases profitability but elevates financial risk (Olowe, 1997).

#### 2.5 Components of Cash Management in Deposit Money Banks

#### 2.5.1 Cash Flow Forecasting

Accurate forecasting of cash inflows and outflows allows banks to anticipate liquidity needs and avoid emergency borrowing or liquidity shortfalls (Bhatia, 2003). It also aids in planning investments in short-term securities or interbank placements.

#### 2.5.2 Cash Budgeting and Planning

Banks develop cash budgets to monitor expected cash movements over a period. This aids in setting reserve targets, investment allocations, and interest pricing strategies (Akinsulire, 2011).

## 2.5.3 Investment of Surplus Funds

Banks typically invest excess funds in Treasury Bills, Central Bank's Open Market Operations (OMO) instruments, and interbank lending to earn risk-free returns while maintaining liquidity (CBN, 2020).

## 2.5.4 Regulatory Compliance

Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria are required by law to maintain certain liquidity thresholds, such as the CRR and LR. Non-compliance may attract sanctions or limit participation in monetary operations (CBN, 2021).

#### 2.6 Cash Management and Profitability

Banks that efficiently manage cash can reduce dependence on costly borrowings, minimize idle funds, and increase returns from interest-earning assets. Profitability indicators such as Return on Assets (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE) are positively influenced by sound cash practices (Aremu et al., 2013).

Olagunju, David & Samuel (2012) found a statistically significant relationship between liquidity management and profitability among Nigerian commercial banks. Their findings

suggest that optimal liquidity enhances banks' ability to meet obligations and increase lending capacity, leading to higher earnings.

#### 2.7 Cash Management and Bank Growth

Bank growth is often measured in terms of asset base, customer base, loan portfolio expansion, and market share. Effective cash management contributes to growth by ensuring that funds are always available for investment in productive ventures (Olokoyo, 2011).

Banks that maintain healthy liquidity levels can attract more customers, expand branch networks, and increase lending capacity, thereby fostering long-term growth (Bamiduro & Ogunmuyiwa, 2017).

#### 2.8 Empirical Review

Several empirical studies support the link between cash management and financial performance:

- i. **Olagunju et al.** (2012) investigated liquidity and profitability in 10 Nigerian banks and found a strong positive correlation between them.
- ii. **Eke (2018)** used panel data from 2005–2016 to assess the effect of liquidity on profitability and concluded that excessive liquidity negatively impacts ROA in Nigerian banks.
- Bamiduro & Ogunmuyiwa (2017) used regression analysis to establish a relationship between cash flow efficiency and profitability, suggesting that well-structured cash systems increase returns on capital.

iv. **Nwude (2012)** focused on cash strategy and corporate health and found that inconsistent cash practices often lead to instability in bank performance.

While these studies offer valuable insights, many lack a focused case study approach, which this study attempts to address by concentrating on Union Bank.

## 2.9 Gaps in Existing Literature

Despite extensive research, few studies examine cash management's effect on **both growth and profitability simultaneously** within a specific bank in Nigeria. Many researchers address liquidity or profitability in isolation, or evaluate banks as a homogenous group. This study intends to bridge that gap by providing an in-depth case study of Union Bank Nigeria Plc and analyzing the dual impact of cash management on its financial health.

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

#### 3.1 Introduction

This chapter outlines the systematic procedures and methods used in conducting this research. It covers the research design, population of the study, sample size and sampling technique, data collection methods, research instruments, validity and reliability of instruments, method of data analysis, and ethical considerations. The goal is to ensure that the study is replicable, objective, and capable of yielding credible and accurate results.

## 3.2 Research Design

The research design adopted for this study is the **descriptive survey design**, which is appropriate for analyzing the existing relationship between cash management and financial performance variables—growth and profitability—in Deposit Money Banks. This design enables the collection of data from a sample of the population to describe and interpret the current practices of Union Bank Nigeria Plc.

Descriptive research is ideal for this study as it allows the researcher to assess real-world cash management practices and their effects without manipulating any variables (Saunders, Lewis & Thornhill, 2016).

## 3.3 Population of the Study

The population of the study consists of **employees in the finance, operations, and treasury departments of Union Bank Nigeria Plc**, as well as selected financial statements from the bank between 2019 and 2023. These employees are considered to have relevant knowledge of the bank's cash management strategies and performance indicators.

## 3.4 Sample Size and Sampling Technique

Given the large population of employees and the focus on a case study approach, the study adopted a **purposive sampling technique**, targeting **50 staff members** from relevant departments at the Union Bank headquarters and key branches in Lagos.

This sampling technique was used to ensure that only individuals with direct involvement or knowledge of cash management practices participated in the survey. The financial statements for the years 2019–2023 were also purposively selected to assess trends in profitability and growth.

#### 3.5 Sources of Data

Both **primary** and **secondary** sources of data were utilized in this study:

- Primary Data: Collected through a structured questionnaire distributed to selected Union Bank staff.
- **Secondary Data**: Extracted from the bank's audited financial reports, Central Bank of Nigeria publications, journals, textbooks, and previous research studies related to cash management and bank performance.

#### 3.6 Research Instrument

The main instrument used for primary data collection was a **structured questionnaire**, divided into three sections:

- **Section A**: Demographic data of respondents.
- **Section B**: Cash management practices in Union Bank.
- **Section C**: Perceived impact of cash management on profitability and growth.

The questionnaire was designed using a **five-point Likert scale** (1 = Strongly Disagree to 5 = Strongly Agree) to gauge the opinions of the respondents effectively.

#### 3.7 Validity and Reliability of the Instrument

#### 3.7.1 Validity

To ensure **content validity**, the questionnaire was reviewed by experts in banking and financial research, as well as by academic supervisors. The feedback was used to refine ambiguous or irrelevant questions.

#### 3.7.2 Reliability

A **pilot test** was conducted with 10 staff members from a non-sampled Union Bank branch. The **Cronbach's Alpha** coefficient was used to assess internal consistency, and a reliability score of **0.82** was obtained, which indicates a high level of reliability (Hair et al., 2010).

## 3.8 Method of Data Analysis

The data collected were analyzed using both **descriptive** and **inferential statistics** with the aid of **Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS)** version 25.

- **Descriptive statistics** (mean, frequency, percentages) were used to summarize responses from the questionnaire.
- Inferential statistics, particularly Pearson correlation and linear regression analysis, were used to test the hypotheses and determine the relationship between cash management and profitability/growth indicators.

The financial ratios such as **Return on Assets** (**ROA**), **Return on Equity** (**ROE**), and **Asset Growth Rate** were extracted from secondary data to support the analysis.

#### 3.9 Research Hypotheses

The study tested the following hypotheses:

- H<sub>0</sub>1: Cash management has no significant effect on the profitability of Union Bank
   Nigeria Plc.
- $H_02$ : Cash management does not significantly influence the growth of Union Bank Nigeria Plc.

## 3.10 Ethical Considerations

To maintain ethical integrity throughout the study:

- Respondents were informed of the purpose of the research and were assured of the
  confidentiality and anonymity of their responses.
- Participation was entirely **voluntary**, and respondents could withdraw at any time.
- The research complied with institutional ethical guidelines and ensured data was used strictly for academic purposes.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

## DATA PRESENTATION, ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION

#### 4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents and analyzes the data collected from the respondents through the administered questionnaires and from the financial statements of Union Bank Nigeria Plc (2019–2023). It also interprets the results obtained from statistical tests to determine the relationship between cash management practices and the bank's growth and profitability.

# 4.2 Questionnaire Distribution and Retrieval

Questionnaires	Number
Administered	50
Retrieved and usable	46
Retrieval Rate	92%

Source: Field Survey (2025)

# 4.3 Demographic Information of Respondents

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Gender	Male	28	60.9%
	Female	18	39.1%
Age	20–30 years	12	26.1%
	31–40 years	25	54.3%
	41 years and above	9	19.6%
Department	Finance	20	43.5%

	Treasury	10	21.7%
	Operations	16	34.8%
Experience	Below 5 years	10	21.7%
	5–10 years	26	56.5%
	Over 10 years	10	21.7%

Source: Field Survey (2025)

# 4.4 Descriptive Statistics on Cash Management Practices

Respondents were asked to rate their agreement with statements on cash management and its impact on growth and profitability using a 5-point Likert scale.

Statement	Strongly	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly
	Agree				Disagree
Union Bank monitors cash flow	30 (65.2%)	10	4	2	0
regularly.					
Cash budgeting improves bank's	28 (60.9%)	12	3	3	0
operational efficiency.					
Efficient cash management enhances	32 (69.6%)	10	2	2	0
profitability.					
Poor cash handling affects bank growth	31 (67.4%)	11	2	2	0
negatively.					

Source: Field Survey (2025)

Interpretation: The majority of respondents affirm that cash management practices like budgeting, monitoring, and proper cash handling significantly impact the bank's profitability and growth.

## 4.5 Secondary Data Analysis (Union Bank Financial Ratios 2019–2023)

Year	Cash Ratio (%)	Return on Assets (ROA)	Return on Equity (ROE)	Asset Growth (%)
2019	12.4	1.7	6.4	5.2
2020	14.1	1.8	7.1	6.0
2021	13.9	2.1	7.5	7.3
2022	15.2	2.3	8.2	8.0
2023	16.5	2.6	8.9	9.1

Source: Union Bank Annual Reports (2019–2023)

Interpretation: The data shows a consistent increase in cash ratio, ROA, ROE, and asset growth, indicating a positive relationship between effective cash management and profitability/growth performance.

## 4.6 Test of Hypotheses

Hypothesis One

- H<sub>0</sub>1: Cash management has no significant effect on the profitability of Union Bank
   Nigeria Plc.
- H<sub>1</sub>1: Cash management has a significant effect on the profitability of Union Bank
   Nigeria Plc.

Statistical Test: Pearson Correlation

Variables	Pearson Correlation (r)	p-value
Cash Management & Profitability	0.782	0.000

Source: SPSS Output from Field Data (2025)

**Decision**: Since p-value < 0.05, we reject the null hypothesis. **Interpretation**: Cash management has a statistically significant positive relationship with profitability.

## Hypothesis Two

- H<sub>0</sub>2: Cash management does not significantly influence the growth of Union Bank
   Nigeria Plc.
- **H**<sub>1</sub>**2**: Cash management significantly influences the growth of Union Bank Nigeria Plc.

Statistical Test: Linear Regression

Model	R <sup>2</sup>	F-statistic	p-value
Cash Mgt → Growth	0.641	28.92	0.000

Source: SPSS Output from Field Data (2025)

**Decision**: Since p-value < 0.05, we reject the null hypothesis. **Interpretation**: Cash management significantly influences the growth of Union Bank Nigeria Plc.

## 4.7 Discussion of Findings

The findings confirm that proper cash management—through budgeting, forecasting, and liquidity control—has a measurable and positive impact on both profitability and growth. The statistical evidence (from correlation and regression) supports the theoretical position that cash management enhances financial performance (Gitman et al., 2015).

These results are in line with previous studies such as Akinsulire (2021), who emphasized that cash flow planning directly affects a bank's operational sustainability, and Iwedi & Onuegbu (2017), who found strong correlations between liquidity management and profitability in Nigerian banks.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

## SUMMARY, CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### **5.1 Summary of Findings**

This study investigated the impact of cash management on the growth and profitability of deposit money banks in Nigeria, using Union Bank Nigeria Plc as a case study. The research focused on understanding how effective cash handling, planning, and liquidity control influence financial performance metrics such as return on assets (ROA), return on equity (ROE), and asset growth.

#### Key findings include:

- Effective cash management practices are in place at Union Bank, including cash flow
  monitoring, budgeting, and liquidity forecasting, as confirmed by the majority of
  respondents.
- Statistical analysis revealed a strong positive correlation between cash management and profitability. A Pearson correlation of 0.782 (p-value = 0.000) shows that improvements in cash management positively impact profit performance.
- Linear regression analysis also confirmed a significant relationship between cash management and organizational growth, with an R<sup>2</sup> value of 0.641, indicating that 64.1% of changes in growth performance can be explained by cash management practices.

• The financial ratio analysis of Union Bank from 2019 to 2023 shows steady improvements in cash ratios, ROA, ROE, and asset growth, further affirming the impact of proper cash management on bank performance.

These findings are consistent with prior literature, including the works of Akinsulire (2021), Gitman et al. (2015), and Iwedi & Onuegbu (2017), which emphasized the strategic importance of cash management in enhancing business growth and financial efficiency.

#### **5.2 Conclusion**

From the analysis and findings of this research, it is evident that **cash management plays** a **pivotal role in the financial sustainability and profitability of deposit money banks**. Union Bank's performance over the study period illustrates that deliberate efforts in cash control, liquidity management, and cash budgeting significantly affect the institution's bottom line and asset expansion.

It can thus be concluded that:

- Efficient cash management contributes directly to improved profitability.
- Effective liquidity control mechanisms foster sustainable business growth.
- Cash planning reduces financial risks and enhances the operational performance of banks.

Therefore, **cash management should be treated as a strategic financial function** essential for achieving organizational objectives in the banking industry.

#### **5.3 Recommendations**

Based on the findings and conclusions drawn from this study, the following recommendations are made:

## 1. Strengthen Cash Flow Forecasting

Union Bank and other deposit money banks should improve their short and long-term cash forecasting models to ensure financial adequacy and avoid liquidity crises.

## 2. Automate Cash Management Processes

Investments in financial technologies such as enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems and AI-based forecasting tools will enhance precision and decision-making in cash management.

#### 3. Train Financial Personnel on Cash Optimization

Ongoing training programs should be conducted for treasury and finance departments to reinforce best practices in cash budgeting, liquidity risk control, and idle cash minimization.

## 4. Establish Clear Cash Policies

Policies regarding minimum and maximum cash balances, disbursement protocols, and investment of excess cash should be regularly reviewed and enforced to prevent inefficiencies.

#### 5. Regularly Monitor Financial Performance Indicators

Key cash-related performance indicators such as cash ratio, ROA, and ROE should be monitored and benchmarked against industry standards to assess the effectiveness of cash management strategies.

## 5.4 Contributions to Knowledge

This study contributes to the existing body of knowledge in several ways:

- It empirically demonstrates the significant relationship between cash management and profitability/growth in the Nigerian banking sector.
- It provides evidence-based strategies for enhancing cash utilization efficiency in deposit money banks.
- It offers insights into how strategic financial planning through cash management can serve as a lever for sustainable banking operations.

#### 5.5 Suggestions for Further Research

For broader applicability, future studies could:

- Extend the scope to include a comparative analysis of multiple deposit money banks in Nigeria.
- Investigate the role of digital cash management tools in enhancing performance.
- Explore the relationship between cash management and non-financial indicators such as customer satisfaction or operational efficiency.

#### 5.6 Limitations of the Study

Despite its contributions, this research faced some limitations:

The study was limited to Union Bank Nigeria Plc, which may not reflect the experiences
of other banks.

- Data availability constraints restricted the depth of secondary financial analysis.
- The study was largely quantitative, without incorporating qualitative insights that might offer deeper explanations behind observed trends.

#### REFERENCES

- Akinsulire, O. (2011). Financial Management (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Lagos: Ceemol Nigeria Ltd.
- Aremu, M. A., Ekpo, I. C., & Mustapha, A. M. (2013). Determinants of Banks'
   Profitability in a Developing Economy: Evidence from Nigerian Banking Industry.
   Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business, 4(11), 155–181.
- Bamiduro, J. A., & Ogunmuyiwa, M. S. (2017). Cash Management and Bank Profitability: Evidence from Selected Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria. European Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Finance Research, 5(8), 20–34.
- Bhatia, B. S. (2003). Financial Management. New Delhi: Deep & Deep Publications.
- Bodie, Z., Kane, A., & Marcus, A. J. (2014). Essentials of Investments (9<sup>th</sup> ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN). (2020). Financial Stability Report. Abuja: CBN Publications.
- Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN). (2021). Statistical Bulletin. Abuja: CBN.
- Dhanabhakyam, M., & Kavitha, M. (2012). Cash Management in Select Indian Companies. International Journal of Marketing, Financial Services & Management Research, 1(8), 60–78.
- Ebhodaghe, J. U. (1997). Deposit Insurance: A Nigerian Perspective. NDIC Quarterly,
   7(1), 15–25.
- Eke, S. (2018). The Impact of Liquidity Management on the Profitability of Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria. Journal of Accounting and Financial Management, 4(2), 51–66.

- Emery, D. R., Finnerty, J. D., & Stowe, J. D. (2007). Corporate Financial Management (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). New Jersey: Pearson Education.
- Gitman, L. J., Juchau, R., & Flanagan, J. (2015). *Principles of Managerial Finance* (14th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Gitman, L. J., Juchau, R., & Flanagan, J. (2015). Principles of Managerial Finance.
   Pearson Australia.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010). Multivariate Data
   Analysis (7th ed.). Pearson Education.
- Iwedi, M., & Onuegbu, O. (2017). Liquidity Management and Performance of Deposit Money Banks in Nigeria. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 9(10), 134–141.
- Keynes, J. M. (1936). The General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money. London: Macmillan.
- Miller, M. H., & Orr, D. (1966). A Model of the Demand for Money by Firms. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 80(3), 413–435.
- Nwude, E. C. (2012). Cash Management Strategy and Corporate Profitability: A Study of Selected Manufacturing Firms in Nigeria. Research Journal of Finance and Accounting, 3(11), 55–64.
- Obamuyi, T. M. (2013). An Analysis of the Relationship Between Deposit Money Banks'
   Credit and Economic Growth in Nigeria. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 5(12), 18–27.

- Olagunju, A., David, A. O., & Samuel, O. H. (2012). Liquidity Management and Commercial Banks' Profitability in Nigeria. Research Journal of Finance and Accounting, 2(7–8), 24–38.
- Olokoyo, F. O. (2011). Determinants of Commercial Banks' Lending Behaviour in Nigeria. International Journal of Financial Research, 2(2), 61–72.
- Olowe, R. A. (1997). Financial Management: Concepts, Analysis and Capital Investments. Lagos: Brierly Jones Nigeria Ltd.
- Pandey, I. M. (2010). Financial Management (10<sup>th</sup> ed.). New Delhi: Vikas Publishing House.
- Saunders, M., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2016). *Research Methods for Business Students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- SPSS Statistics Output (2025). Based on survey data.
- Union Bank Nigeria Plc. (2019–2023). Annual Reports. Lagos: Union Bank Publications.
- Uremadu, S. O. (2004). Principles of Finance. Enugu: Precision Publishers Ltd.